

How Can Implementers
Apply Digital
Personalised Learning
in Schools?

**EdTech** Hub

#### **About EdTech Hub**

EdTech Hub is a global research partnership. Our goal is to empower people by giving them the evidence they need to make decisions about technology in education. Our evidence library is a repository of our latest research, findings, and wider literature on EdTech. As a global partnership, we seek to make our evidence available and accessible to those who are looking for EdTech solutions worldwide.

EdTech Hub is supported by UKAid, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, World Bank, and UNICEF. The views in this document do not necessarily reflect the views of these organisations.

To find out more about us, go to <a href="edtechhub.org/">edtechhub.org/</a>. Our evidence library can be found at <a href="docs.edtechhub.org/lib/">docs.edtechhub.org/lib/</a>.

#### **About the Learning Brief Series**

The EdTech Hub Learning Brief Series provides practical resources for people working to improve how technology is used in education. The briefs are specifically designed to help busy decision-makers working in low- and middle-income countries.

The Learning Briefs each address a specific technical question. Each one explains why the question matters, provides insights to help with effective decision-making, and identifies issues that require further work. They are based on practical evidence generated through the work of EdTech Hub and from across the sector.

We want to make EdTech evidence accessible so that it can be used to improve both policymaking and implementation.

Please <u>contact EdTech Hub</u> to share your ideas for new Learning Brief topics which would help you in your work.

#### **Recommended citation**

Plaut, D. (2024). How Can Implementers Apply Digital Personalised Learning in Schools? [Learning Brief]. EdTech Hub.

https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1008

Available at:

https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/ACMFRNNS.
Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0
International

#### Licence

Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</a>

You are free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format) and adapt (remix, transform, and build upon the material) for any purpose, even commercially. You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the licence, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.

#### **Acknowledgements**

Hiruy Teka (Jigsaw), Avinash Oojorah (Mauritius Institute of Education), Waaiza Udhin (Mauritius Institute of Education), David Hollow, Haani Mazari, Rebecca Daltry, and Laila Friese.

### **Contents**

Why this question matters	4
Four essential points about DPL implementation	
Key insights to improve practice	6
Teachers should play a role as facilitators and users of DPL, ideally co-designing their role and professional development	÷
A 1:1 ratio between a device and a learner should not be assumed to be the most cost-effective approach	
Work with national and local education leaders to define how DPL tools will fit into the school schedule, space, and curriculum	
<u>Areas for further exploration</u>	9
How can DPL tools support and improve teacher instruction?	
What DPL tool to choose? How should cost implications and sustainability at scale inforn this choice?	n
Who should own DPL implementation, including software and data?	
How will artificial intelligence impact the implementation of DPL tools?	
Resources	12
Notes	13

### Why this question matters

The current debate about digital personalised learning (DPL) is vibrant, ranging from its definition to its potential impact in improving learning outcomes. A recent review of trends in DPL by UNICEF provides insight into the issue of definition, presenting the basic features of DPL tools as including:

- The ability to capture learner traits (i.e., their abilities or understanding of a particular topic or subject)
- Logic to connect the learner through these traits to relevant content
- A user interface that enables learner interaction with that content.<sup>1</sup>

EdTech Hub's own work on the topic led us to define DPL as "the use of technology to facilitate learning which is tailored to individual learner characteristics, interests, and needs through responsive and/or adaptive mechanisms."<sup>2</sup>

There is recent promising evidence of the impact that DPL can have on learning. In many instances, DPL tools have been shown to enable a moderate positive impact on the learning of maths, science, and literacy.<sup>3</sup> DPL tools, which were evaluated as a part of the Global XPrize, also showed a similar impact on learning outcomes.<sup>4</sup>

While the potential of DPL tools to improve learning outcomes is promising, the question of how they might be implemented at scale within schools remains. This is particularly important from the perspectives of practicality, cost-effectiveness, and affordability among low- and middle-income country (LMIC) contexts in particular. While it is clear that well-designed and effectively implemented DPL software can lead to improvement in certain learning outcomes, this is likely to only be effective at scale where adequate infrastructure, teacher preparation, and availability of hardware are made available.<sup>5</sup>

So what should implementers consider when deciding whether or not to introduce DPL

tools in schools? What have we learnt from existing implementation models about the most effective ways to do this? What are the remaining evidence gaps that should be further examined by researchers and practitioners? This brief responds to each of these questions.

## First, let's look at four essential points regarding DPL implementation:

#### 'Teaching at the right level', through personalisation is an important aspect of DPL success

The ability of DPL tools to support 'teaching at the right level' (TARL), enabling learners to learn according to their current proficiency, has been highlighted as one of the most promising aspects of DPL, and one of the likely reasons for its success.<sup>6</sup> There is evidence to suggest that the more 'personalised' or 'adaptive' a tool is, i.e., the more it can adapt its content to a learner's level and the greater the impact will be in improving learning outcomes.<sup>7</sup>

# 2. DPL tools have mostly been implemented as a supplement to classroom instruction, though efforts of alignment with curricula are also common

DPL tools can be used to supplement teacher-led instruction, allowing learners to engage in education content separately from classroom teaching.8 For example, in Kenya, EdTech Hub studied the implementation of the **Oppia DPL tool**,9 in which Grade 5 learners engaged with the software through mobile phones in an after-school programme. Supplementary use of DPL tools is the most common mode of application, alongside efforts to align with the curriculum.10

DPL tools can be applied in ways that are more integrated, or closely aligned with the curriculum and lesson plans, with the teacher playing an active role in this alignment. In this approach, the intention is that the teacher and technology complement one another in enabling the same curriculum to be taught, with the teacher facilitating and reinforcing the learning process through DPL tools. In some instances, integrated approaches may also allow the teacher to use feedback data from the tool to adjust classroom instruction. The extent to which DPL tools can align with curricula varies, with many simply mapping pre-designed content to curriculum standards. Nevertheless, attempts to map software content to curriculum standards and classroom lessons are deemed to result in more meaningful personalisation.11

# 3. Hardware and connectivity requirements for DPL interventions can vary, but most tools require at least a smartphone and some online connectivity

DPL tools can vary significantly in the technology components they require. Most tools can be installed and used across device types (for instance, both on desktop and mobile devices) but only a small minority can be used on feature phones.<sup>12</sup> EdTech Hub's own **DPL research portfolio**<sup>13</sup> reflects the diversity of DPL tools: currently, DPL research in Kenya includes a desktop and mobile tool (Oppia), a smartphone tool (EIDU), and an SMS-based feature phone tool (M-Shule). Some DPL tools offer offline functionality, with products like M-Shule, CG Slate, and Read Along allowing specific features to be used offline, and the entire onecourse app<sup>14</sup> developed by the non-profit onebillion being designed specifically for offline use. But these constitute less than half of the DPL tools we know about. The lack of offline functionality is a major challenge to

implementation in LMICs where 53% of the population does not have internet access.<sup>15</sup>

# 4. DPL has shown promise in closing learning gaps by supporting marginalised learners, but it is not yet a solution that can reach all learners equally

There are examples of DPL tools producing promising results among lower-attaining learners.<sup>16, 17</sup> Some impact has also been captured among other marginalised learner groups, including:

- Improving literacy and numeracy outcomes for out-of-school learners<sup>18</sup>
- Narrowing learning gaps between rural and urban learners<sup>19</sup>
- Mitigating expected gender differences in early learning outcomes<sup>20</sup>
- Promoting numeracy learning outcomes for children with mild to moderate learning challenges from special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).<sup>21, 22</sup>

However, many learners remain underserved by this technology, including ethnic minorities and children with SEND whose diverse needs are not adequately met by these tools.<sup>23</sup>

The four points outlined above highlight both the promise and the challenge of DPL use in LMIC settings. They emphasise the importance of effective, context-specific implementation of these tools within education settings in order to realise the potential benefits.

# Key insights to improve practice

Beyond the typologies and background knowledge about DPL implementation described above, there are emerging insights about how these tools might be most effectively applied in school settings, with a focus both on effectiveness and scalability.

# Teachers should play a role as facilitators and users of DPL, ideally co-designing their role and professional development

The role of teachers as crucial facilitators of DPL has been widely noted in evidence reviews.<sup>24, 25</sup> Many teachers have positive perceptions of DPL tools, although these impressions do not always translate to consistent or effective use of these tools.26 Most DPL tools are intended for use within institutional settings and include a role for teachers that ranges from facilitators and/or monitors of DPL engagement to hands-on instructors.<sup>27</sup> Furthermore, teachers are often targeted users of DPL tools: most DPL tools offer a teacher portal to enable teacher access and use. Many DPL tools also support teachers in monitoring learner performance and in some cases can help facilitate instruction.28

The specific role of teachers in facilitating DPL use in school settings can vary depending on the kind of intervention and the extent to which it is integrated into classroom instruction. However, across implementation contexts, evidence demonstrates that teachers should be adequately equipped to play their respective roles through professional development focused on how to use the DPL effectively. This is particularly true in cases where DPL requires teachers to gain new digital skills and/or depart from their usual teaching practice.<sup>29</sup>

One way to ensure teachers' roles are contextualised, and their professional development is implemented coherently, is to co-create DPL tools with teachers themselves.<sup>30</sup> Participatory approaches to implementation design (which includes the co-creation of teachers' roles) have been adopted by a number of DPL implementers to ensure their effectiveness in school settings.

In the Dominican Republic, EdTech Hub partnered with the World Bank to conduct qualitative research on the World Bank's implementation of the ALEKS<sup>31</sup> tool (a DPL tool used on laptops and smartphones to provide Grade 9 curriculum learning and practice for learners). In this context, the role of teachers was to monitor progress, motivate students, and provide additional explanation and support. Local education leaders, ranging from school principals to pedagogical coordinators and teachers, played key roles in contextualising the tool's approach in their respective school settings.32 The most relevant takeaways from this research are:

- The importance of co-designing school-based DPL programmes with school personnel, making sure these crucial stakeholders are involved from the beginning.
- Ensuring the implementation model reflects the realities of the school environment.
- Ensuring programme goals are relevant, and an adequate support infrastructure is in place to aid implementation.<sup>33</sup>

In Kenya, EdTech Hub partnered with the educational platform **EIDU**<sup>34</sup> to understand the impact of smartphones containing both digitalised structured pedagogy (in the form of the **Tayari**<sup>35</sup> programme) and digital personalised learning (onebillion's onecourse) in pre-primary classrooms. In this

instance, the teacher has a central role in facilitating the use of the tool, including:

- Allowing for a dedicated space within their class.
- Time for learners to engage individually with the EIDU device.
- Monitoring the transition of that device from learner to learner.

Furthermore, the tool's combination of structured pedagogy and DPL features creates an implementation model that is more deeply integrated into classroom instruction. The DPL tool content aligns with the lesson plans, and teachers have the opportunity to choose strands of learning on the DPL tool which relate to what they have been teaching that day.<sup>36</sup>

As a part of the study design, EdTech Hub conducted design-based research to explore the integration of this DPL tool into classroom practices, and also to collaborate with teachers, headteachers, early childhood district education officers, and implementing partners. The research methodology included:

- Holding a series of iterative implementation workshops.
- A co-learning lesson study approach (a professional development method including planning, implementation, analysis, and reflection).
- Co-creation of user journey maps for teachers implementing EIDU.
- A sandbox phase to co-create tools and methods to support teachers to ensure learners have equal access to EIDU devices.<sup>37</sup>

Emerging findings from this evaluation suggest the tool is being implemented effectively and producing positive learning outcome shifts.<sup>38</sup> The importance of co-creation demonstrated in the two examples mentioned above (including co-designing the implementation model, teachers' roles in it, and their support structure) in creating adequate buy-in and effective implementation of DPL in school settings has been echoed elsewhere.<sup>39, 40, 41, 42</sup>

Teachers are much more likely to effectively use DPL tools if given a meaningful role in deciding how they are introduced to their classrooms

# A 1:1 ratio between a device and a learner should not be assumed to be the most cost-effective approach

It is clear that part of the effectiveness of DPL is linked to the value generated from a learner having individual engagement with the tool in question. However, ensuring enough devices are available to enable a 'one-per-child' model is an expensive proposition and unaffordable in many contexts. Further, recent models show there may be nuances to the assumption about needing a 1:1 ratio between devices and learners. Implementers are finding creative ways to maximise the variety of ways devices are used, and exploring ways of improving learning outcomes by leveraging peer learning.

EIDU's implementation in pre-primary schools in Kenya demonstrates that learning outcomes can be improved even in classrooms with only one or two devices by creating an implementation model which rotates the devices among users.<sup>43</sup> The approach involves creating a dedicated 'EIDU corner' within a classroom and designing the software to prompt learners to pass on the device to their peers once their session is over. Of course, this retains a 1:1 ratio in DPL engagement by learners but showcases how implementers can creatively make the most of working with fewer devices. In addition to evaluating the impact of this model, EdTech Hub and EIDU teams have conducted a sandbox to gauge whether the model effectively facilitates equal access to the device within a classroom.44

EdTech Hub's randomised controlled trial with the Oppia tool in Kenya goes further, demonstrating that the 1:1 ratio during DPL engagement may not be required. The research tested the potential of peer learning to impact DPL use, comparing learning outcomes from traditional individual DPL tool engagement against two distinct paired learning approaches: learners sitting in pairs with their own devices, and sitting in pairs

sharing a device. It found the peer learning component to be the strongest mediator of learning, leading to significantly improved outcomes in both 'paired' approaches and hypothesising that student activity may have increased on devices when working collaboratively.<sup>45</sup>

Forthcoming research by Pitchford and Lurvink<sup>46</sup> has also explored implementation of onecourse with implementing partner VSO using a similar 'tablet sharing' modality. The intervention has produced learning gains in both numeracy and literacy compared to children receiving standard whole-class instruction. The same study saw a smaller (but positive) effect size for a 'projector modality' in which specific content from onecourse was selected by teachers to be shared with the whole class via a solar-powered projector. This was particularly important for listening comprehension, an important aspect of literacy skill development. Another forthcoming study on this projector approach based on implementation in Malawi has led to more mixed results.47

The exact benefits of 1:2 or 1:many approaches to DPL use are still being investigated. Meanwhile, when considering how to maximise the effectiveness of DPL applications in school settings, implementers and researchers alike should consider the potential of modalities requiring lower-tech investment, and therefore more affordable cost-per-child approaches, to produce improved learning outcomes.<sup>48</sup>

# Work with national and local education leaders to define how DPL tools will fit into the school schedule, space, and curriculum

DPL tools require adequate infrastructure, space, and time for incorporation into education systems, and these are scarce in LMICs.<sup>49</sup> The work of EdTech Hub has demonstrated that defining these aspects of the implementation model of DPL tools is crucial, and that designing them in partnership with local and national education leaders is paramount.

This high level of coordination was evident in the Dominican Republic, where local school leaders had to be intimately involved in implementation, including making significant management decisions in order to implement the ALEKS tool successfully. School principals played a key role in coordinating resources and human capital, pedagogical coordinators conducted monitoring of teachers' facilitation of the tool's use.50 In Kenya, EdTech Hub and EIDU's design-based research helped us to better understand the 'co-create the implementation' approach with core decision-makers. We developed a clearer understanding of the users' journeys through the EIDU intervention, and based on this, have proposed recommendations for the implementation model and software design—to be implemented before the model scales.51

A helpful example of this coordination is the current roll-out of onecourse to all primary schools in Malawi through the **BEFIT**<sup>52</sup> programme. This programme builds the Unlocking Talent (UT)<sup>53</sup> programme, which provides a dedicated space in schools (learning centres). Learners step out of standard classes to rotate through this space at different times of the day to engage with the DPL tool on tablets. The UT model has been evaluated and indicated improvements in learning outcomes.<sup>54, 55, 56</sup> However, the infrastructure investment required was costly, including additional classrooms built to serve as 'learning centres' as well as the need to install solar panels and charging stations for tablets, which were not affordable for a realistic national-level scale-up.

Seeking to address this challenge, one billion worked with EdTech Hub on a sandbox to get teachers' perspectives on new implementation model ideas that were less cost-intensive and consider the cost-effectiveness and logistics of these different approaches. Again, we found that co-creating a dissemination model with teachers and local stakeholders was instructive: removing the potential for an at-home DPL model or a classroom-integrated model, and instead focusing on making the UT model leaner and more efficient.<sup>57</sup>

From here, onebillion and their implementation partners Imagine Worldwide and VSO, worked directly with the Malawi government through the Directorate of Open Distance and E-Learning to develop a model which would effectively and sustainably fit into the education system at scale. In doing so, they arrived at a model that uses classrooms as the 'learning centres' with a set of school tablets being rotated around the school. A separate (smaller) space within schools can be used to store and charge tablets, and solar-powered electricity could be installed here. Additionally, the implementation team worked with ministry leaders to embed time for DPL use in the school timetable and provide technology training at every level of the school system. This partnership goes beyond the set-up of

the intervention. While the plan is to scale the programme to all primary schools in the country, with support from implementing partners, it is being led by the Ministry of Education through the Programme Implementation and Management Unit. The government plans to sustain it financially once the first phase of philanthropic support has been finalised.<sup>58</sup>

Effective large-scale use of DPL tools within education settings cannot happen without extensive coordination and buy-in from relevant decision-makers. As much as possible, implementers of DPL should look to engage with education system decision-makers early, meaningfully, and often.

### Areas for further exploration

### How can DPL tools support and improve teacher instruction?

The application of DPL tools within a classroom setting to support and improve classroom teaching is still an underexplored question. As we have noted, the role of the teacher is vital, but research on how these tools could support teachers most effectively is sparse.

For instance, DPL tools could potentially facilitate assessment-informed instruction by creating actionable feedback for teachers on students' learning levels.59 Some programmes have started to implement teacher-facing data dashboards within DPL tools. One example of this is Mindspark's DPL software in India. Mindspark has explored leveraging the algorithms for analysing student performance to provide more relevant and timely feedback to teachers.60 Chimple (another DPL tool and X-Prize finalist), has a teacher-facing app providing a view into student learning which helps teachers make connections between DPL assessment data and classroom instruction.61 Currently, EdTech Hub's work with EIDU in Kenya is also exploring how to provide teachers with usage and progress data from

the tool to allow them to make informed decisions in the classroom.<sup>62</sup> Effective use of DPL tools to collect learning data or conduct formative assessments with little additional effort from teachers could add significant value by allowing these educators to focus more of their time on providing learners with targeted instructional support.

Some research has explored other ways that DPL tools could make classroom instruction more effective and efficient, freeing up teachers to focus on aspects of education where they have a comparative advantage over technology.<sup>63</sup> For instance, research by Lurvink and Pitchford<sup>64</sup> included an implementation modality they called the 'Split Class Model', which allowed the teacher to work with half the class while the other half engaged in DPL learning on tablets. Models like these could in theory allow a teacher to provide more individual support to learners, potentially making large classroom sizes more manageable. Emerging evidence suggests that DPL tools may also be able to help teachers improve their understanding of key concepts, or expand their ability to explain these to learners. 65 Tools like Oppia 66 include a lesson creation dashboard for teachers to create and share lessons with a broader community.

As DPL tools become more integrated into school settings, their role as tools for teachers in overcoming capacity and instructional challenges should be investigated thoroughly.

## What DPL tool to choose? How should cost implications and sustainability at scale inform this choice?

A number of DPL tools have shown they can have a positive impact on learning outcomes. However, deciding which tools are most appropriate for a particular education setting is not simple. Tools can vary in features, tech specs, adaptability, and reach, all of which should be considered when selecting a tool for an education system. As a part of its analysis of DPL trends in LMICs,<sup>67</sup> UNICEF applied a product rubric considering product attributes related to:

- Design (including content, pedagogy, and tech specs)
- 2. Use (implementation and evaluation)
- 3. Inclusivity (ability to reach students equitably and sustainably)

Thorough consideration of this kind of the key affordances of DPL tools can provide implementers with guidance in seeking appropriate tools.

Implementers should ensure they consider whether tools can adapt to the existing school curriculum: many of the successfully implemented tools cited in this brief have previously been translated into the appropriate language of instruction, adapted to fit national curricula, and reviewed by local education experts.

Sustainability of a tool's application should also be considered, including a better understanding of infrastructural requirements and related cost implications. The seminal Global Education Evidence Advisory Panel 'Smart Buys' report<sup>68</sup> notes that a key caveat to the promise of DPL is the need for significant tech infrastructure and the associated costs. Most education systems in LMICs lack the pre-existing devices, and adequate infrastructure (electricity, internet, servers, and chargers) to make at-scale use of

DPL tools a consistent reality. It is also important to account for ongoing costs—economic and environmental—associated with DPL, such as maintaining, updating, and replacing devices. <sup>69</sup> Finally, implementers should consider the use and cost of DPL tools relative to other interventions and programmes targeting similar outcomes. It may be possible to increase cost-effectiveness by leveraging technology across programmes.

These are substantial barriers to the use of DPL, particularly in the most marginalised settings, and the challenges are highly context-specific. Again, the importance of co-creation between technology providers and education system actors is paramount, as is a robust, pre-implementation cost-effectiveness analysis, plus the externalising of lessons and evidence to ensure others can learn from existing DPL implementation.

### Who should own DPL implementation, including software and data?

Unlike many EdTech modalities (education management information systems and learning management systems, for instance), DPL implementations are rarely developed within the country where they are being used or rarely owned by public education actors from the beginning. Most DPL tools are currently proprietary and do not follow open principles.<sup>70</sup> This is to be expected in an emerging field with a large potential for revenue. However, it does present significant limitations to the reach of DPL, particularly in its ability to reach those most marginalised learner communities in a manner that is sustainable and equitable. There are noteworthy ways this challenge is being tackled on a case-by-case basis as tools are scaled up. For instance, the BEFIT model in Malawi has come about through a partnership between onebillion and the Ministry of Education, allowing free licensing of onecourse in perpetuity through an appointed licence distributor (in this case Imagine Worldwide).<sup>71</sup> However, more work needs to be done to investigate and disseminate best practices around DPL implementation at scale, including the role of public-private partnerships. This includes

asking tough questions pre-implementation, and requiring answers about licensing and ownership of software, as well as massive datasets that will increasingly be collected as a part of DPL implementation, and how they should be stored, managed, and used.

### How will artificial intelligence impact the implementation of DPL tools?

Recent developments in artificial intelligence, particularly the rapid growth of large language models (LLMs) and integration with machine learning, are likely to have a major impact on DPL. Most DPL tools already include some form of AI, primarily as a means of adapting learning pathways based on learner input/performance. As these technologies are further developed, we are likely to see even more sophisticated adaptation and personalisation being made available to learners. As one example among many, generative AI may be able to address one of

the core current criticisms of DPL, its reliance on creating 'behavioural' learning paths, which focuses on repetition and positive reinforcement at the expense of developing critical thinking skills. It is also likely to enable rapid progress in relation to how DPL tools can provide genuinely personalised learning pathways that are linked to the level of the individual learner and support teachers with relevant lesson content. For example, Google.org recently invested<sup>72</sup> in EIDU to expand the AI functionality of its DPL tool to provide catered learning materials to teachers and personalised tutoring for primary school learners in Kenya. The expansion of AI has significant potential for improving the learning outcomes that can be gained through DPL, but it is also challenging. As yet, much is still unclear about how such dynamic tools might best fit into educational settings and the role of educators in facilitating their integration.

### Resources

#### Resources providing an overview of DPL in LMICs

- Major, Louis, and Gill A. Francis. 2020. 'Technology-Supported Personalised Learning: A Rapid Evidence Review'. Rapid Evidence Review 1. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4556925.
- Major, Louis, Gill A. Francis, and Maria Tsapali. 2021. 'The Effectiveness of Technology-Supported Personalised Learning in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Meta-Analysis'. British Journal of Educational Technology 52 (5): 1935–64. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13116">https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13116</a>.
- Mazari, Haani. 2022. 'What We Are Learning | What We Are Reading: Digital Personalised Learning How Can Technology Be Used to Maximise the Effectiveness of Personalised Learning and Teaching at the Level of the Student?' EdTech Hub (blog). 16 August 2022. <a href="https://edtechhub.org/2022/08/16/what-we-are-learning-what-we-are-reading-digital-personalised-learning-how-can-technology-be-used-to-maximise-the-effectiveness-of-personalised-learning-and-teaching-at-the-level-of-the-s/">https://edtechhub.org/2022/08/16/what-we-are-learning-what-we-are-reading-digital-personalised-learning-how-can-technology-be-used-to-maximise-the-effectiveness-of-personalised-learning-and-teaching-at-the-level-of-the-s/">https://edtechhub.org/2022/08/16/what-we-are-learning-what-we-are-reading-digital-personalised-learning-how-can-technology-be-used-to-maximise-the-effectiveness-of-personalised-learning-and-teaching-at-the-level-of-the-s/</a>.
- UNICEF. 2022. 'Trends in Digital Personalized Learning in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Executive Summary'. UNICEF.
   <a href="https://www.unicef.org/globalinsight/media/2756/file/UNICEF-Global-Insight-Digital-PL-LMIC-executive-summary-2022.pdf">https://www.unicef.org/globalinsight/media/2756/file/UNICEF-Global-Insight-Digital-PL-LMIC-executive-summary-2022.pdf</a>.

#### Resources providing case study examples of impactful DPL use

- Daltry, Rebecca, Louis Major, Chen Sun, Mary Otieno, Kevin Otieno, and Rebecca Daltry Otieno Louis Major, Chen Sun, Mary Otieno and Kevin. 2023. 'Digital Personalised Learning to Improve Literacy and Numeracy Outcomes in Kenyan Classrooms'. EdTech Hub (blog). 15 August 2023.
  - https://edtechhub.org/2023/08/15/emerging-findings-from-a-randomised-controlled-trial-involving-pre-primary-learners-and-eidu/.
- Levesque, Karen, Bardack, Sarah, and Chigeda, Antonie. 2020. 'Tablet-Based Learning for Foundational Literacy and Math: An 8-Month RCT in Malawi'.
  <a href="https://www.imagineworldwide.org/resource/tablet-based-learning-for-foundational-literacy-and-math-an-8-month-rct-in-malawi/">https://www.imagineworldwide.org/resource/tablet-based-learning-for-foundational-literacy-and-math-an-8-month-rct-in-malawi/</a>.
- Levesque, Karen, Sarah Bardack, Antonie Chigeda, Abraham Bahlibi, and Symon Winiko. 2022. 'Two-Year RCT of EdTech in Malawi'. <a href="https://imagine-worldwide.flywheelstaging.com/wp-content/uploads/2-Year-Malawi-RCT-Formatted-Research-Brief\_Updated\_10\_6\_22.pdf">https://imagine-worldwide.flywheelstaging.com/wp-content/uploads/2-Year-Malawi-RCT-Formatted-Research-Brief\_Updated\_10\_6\_22.pdf</a>.
- Pitchford, Nicola J. 2015. 'Development of Early Mathematical Skills with a Tablet Intervention: A Randomized Control Trial in Malawi'. Frontiers in Psychology 6: 485. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00485">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00485</a>.
- XPRIZE. 2019. 'Global Learning XPRIZE: Executive Summary'. XPRIZE. https://assets-us-01.kc-usercontent.com/5cb25086-82d2-4c89-94f0-8450813a0fd3/80bc599 8-a295-4d8b-8e7b-963c413a4d86/GLEXP\_E%20Summary\_Draft%2013\_August.pdf.

### **Notes**

- UNICEF. 2022. 'Trends in Digital Personalized Learning in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Executive Summary'. UNICEF. <a href="https://www.unicef.org/globalinsight/media/2756/file/UNICEF-Global-Insight-Digital-PL-LMIC-executive-summary-2022.pdf">https://www.unicef.org/globalinsight/media/2756/file/UNICEF-Global-Insight-Digital-PL-LMIC-executive-summary-2022.pdf</a>.
- Daltry, Rebecca, Louis Major, Mary Otieno, Kevin Otieno, Katy Jordan, and Nariman Moustafa. Forthcoming. 'Integrating Digital Personalised Learning into Pre-Primary Classroom Practice: A Teacher-Researcher Multiple-Case Study Partnership in Kenya'. Available at <a href="https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/R9QWX9VA">https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/R9QWX9VA</a>.
- Major, Louis, and Gill A. Francis. 2020. 'Technology-Supported Personalised Learning: A Rapid Evidence Review'. Rapid Evidence Review 1. EdTech Hub. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4556925">https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4556925</a>.
- 4. XPRIZE. 2019. 'Global Learning XPRIZE: Executive Summary'. XPRIZE.

  https://assets-us-01.kc-usercontent.com/5cb25086-82d2-4c89-94f0-8450813a0fd3/80bc599

  8-a295-4d8b-8e7b-963c413a4d86/GLEXP\_E%20Summary\_Draft%2013\_August.pdf.
- Banerjee, Abhijit, Tahir Andrab, Rukmini Banerji, Susan Dynarski, Rachel Glennerster, Sally Grantham-Mcgregor, Karthik Muralidharan, et al. 2023. '2023 Cost-Effective Approaches to Improve Global Learning - What Does Recent Evidence Tell Us Are "Smart Buys" for Improving Learning in Low- and Middle-Income Countries?' World Bank Group. <a href="https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/0994/20106132331608/IDU0977f73d7022b1047770980c0c5a14598eef8">https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/0994/20106132331608/IDU0977f73d7022b1047770980c0c5a14598eef8</a>.
- 6. UNICEF, 'Trends'.
- Major, Louis, Gill A. Francis, and Maria Tsapali. 2021. 'The Effectiveness of Technology-Supported Personalised Learning in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Meta-Analysis'. British Journal of Educational Technology 52 (5): 1935–64. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13116">https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13116</a>.
- 8. Major and Francis. 'Technology-Supported'.
- 9. See <a href="https://edtechhub.org/evidence/edtech-hub-research-portfolio/technology-supported-pers">https://edtechhub.org/evidence/edtech-hub-research-portfolio/technology-supported-pers</a> <a href="mailto:onalised-learning-platform-in-kenya/">onalised-learning-platform-in-kenya/</a>. Retrieved 19 February 2024.
- 10. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 11. Major and Francis, 'Technology-Supported'.
- 12. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 13. See <a href="https://edtechhub.org/our-topic-areas/personalised-learning/">https://edtechhub.org/our-topic-areas/personalised-learning/</a>. Retrieved 19 February 2024.
- 14. See <a href="https://onebillion.org/onecourse/">https://onebillion.org/onecourse/</a>. Retrieved 14 February 2024.
- 15. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 16. Major and Francis. 'Technology-Supported'.
- 17. Mazari, Haani. 2022. 'What We Are Learning | What We Are Reading: Digital Personalised Learning How Can Technology Be Used to Maximise the Effectiveness of Personalised Learning and Teaching at the Level of the Student?' EdTech Hub (blog). 16 August 2022. <a href="https://edtechhub.org/2022/08/16/what-we-are-learning-what-we-are-reading-digital-personalised-learning-how-can-technology-be-used-to-maximise-the-effectiveness-of-personalised-learning-and-teaching-at-the-level-of-the-s/">https://edtechhub.org/2022/08/16/what-we-are-learning-what-we-are-reading-digital-personalised-learning-how-can-technology-be-used-to-maximise-the-effectiveness-of-personalised-learning-and-teaching-at-the-level-of-the-s/">https://edtechhub.org/2022/08/16/what-we-are-learning-what-we-are-reading-digital-personalised-learning-how-can-technology-be-used-to-maximise-the-effectiveness-of-personalised-learning-and-teaching-at-the-level-of-the-s/</a>.

- 18. XPRIZE. 'Global'.
- 19. Bai, Yu, Bin Tang, Boya Wang, Emma Auden, and Blake Mandell. 2018. 'Impact of Online Computer Assisted Learning on Education: Evidence from a Randomized Controlled Trial in China'. Working Paper 329. Rural Education Action Program (REAP). Stanford University.
- Pitchford, Nicola J., Elizabeth Kamchedzera, Paula J. Hubber, and Antonie L. Chigeda. 2018. 'Interactive Apps Promote Learning of Basic Mathematics in Children With Special Educational Needs and Disabilities'. Frontiers in Psychology 9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00262">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00262</a>.
- 21. Pitchford, et al. 'Interactive Apps'.
- 22. Lurvink, Anne-Fleur, and Nicola J. Pitchford. 2023. 'Introduction of an EdTech Intervention to Support Learning of Foundational Skills in Sierra Leone: Policy, Teacher, and Community Perspectives'. *Frontiers in Education* 8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2023.1069857">https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2023.1069857</a>.
- 23. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 24. Major and Francis. 'Technology-supported'.
- 25. Tailor, Kavita. 2022. 'Evaluating the Impact of Technology-Supported Personalised Learning Interventions on the Mathematics Achievements of Elementary Students in India', November. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17863/CAM.90561">https://doi.org/10.17863/CAM.90561</a>.
- 26. Van Schoors, Rani, Jan Elen, Annelies Raes, Stefanie Vanbecelaere, and Fien Depaepe. 2023. 'The Charm or Chasm of Digital Personalized Learning in Education: Teachers' Reported Use, Perceptions and Expectations'. *TechTrends* 67 (2): 315–30. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-022-00802-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-022-00802-0</a>.
- 27. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 28. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 29. D'Angelo, Sophia, Juan Barón, Haani Mazari, Daniel Morales, Santiago Ospina Tabares, Paola Polanco Santos, and Tom Kaye. 2024. 'Lessons on Scalability: Implementing Digital Personalized Learning in Public Schools'. World Bank.
- 30. D'Angelo et al. 'Lessons'.
- 31. See <a href="https://www.aleks.com/?\_s=9132905695559768">https://www.aleks.com/?\_s=9132905695559768</a>. Retrieved 19 February 2024.
- 32. D'Angelo et al. 'Lessons'.
- 33. D'Angelo et al. 'Lessons'.
- 34. See <a href="https://eidu.com/">https://eidu.com/</a>. Retrieved 15 February 2024.
- 35. See <a href="https://shared.rti.org/content/tayari-glance">https://shared.rti.org/content/tayari-glance</a>. Retrieved 15 February 2024.
- 36. Daltry et al. 'Integrating'.
- 37. Major, Louis, Rebecca Daltry, Asad Rahman, Daniel Plaut, Mary Otieno, and Kevin Otieno. Forthcoming. 'A Dialogic Design-Based Research Partnership Approach: Developing Close-to-Practice Educational Technology Theory in Kenya'. In Global Perspectives on Teaching with Technology: Theories, Case Studies and Integration Strategies. Available at <a href="https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/EJWOSZTI">https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/EJWOSZTI</a>.
- 38. Daltry, Rebecca, Louis Major, Chen Sun, Mary Otieno, and Kevin Otieno. 2023. 'Digital Personalised Learning to Improve Literacy and Numeracy Outcomes in Kenyan Classrooms'. *EdTech Hub* (blog). 15 August 2023. <a href="https://edtechhub.org/2023/08/15/emerging-findings-from-a-randomised-controlled-trial-involving-pre-primary-learners-and-eidu/">https://edtechhub.org/2023/08/15/emerging-findings-from-a-randomised-controlled-trial-involving-pre-primary-learners-and-eidu/</a>.
- 39. Major and Francis, 'Technology-supported'.

- 40. Adil, Fareeha, Rabia Nazir, and Misbah Akhtar. 2021. 'Investigating the Impact on Learning Outcomes Through the Use of EdTech During Covid-19: Evidence from an RCT in the Punjab Province of Pakistan'. Working Paper 41. EdTech Hub. <a href="https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0067">https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0067</a>.
- 41. Schmitt, Laurel. 2021. 'Scaling Personalised Learning Technology in Malawi'. *EdTech Hub* (blog). 17 August 2021. <a href="https://edtechhub.org/2021/08/17/scaling-personalized-learning-technology-in-malawi-less-ons-from-our-sandbox-with-onebillion/">https://edtechhub.org/2021/08/17/scaling-personalized-learning-technology-in-malawi-less-ons-from-our-sandbox-with-onebillion/</a>.
- 42. Hennessy, Sara, Sophia D'Angelo, Nora McIntyre, Saalim Koomar, Adam Kreimeia, Lydia Cao, Meaghan Brugha, and Asma Zubairi. 2022. 'Technology Use for Teacher Professional Development in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review'. *Computers and Education Open* 3. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.caeo.2022.100080">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.caeo.2022.100080</a>.
- 43. Daltry et al. 'Digital'.
- 44. Major et al. 'A dialogic'.
- 45. Bapna, A., Sharma, N., & Myers, C. (Under review). 'The Centrality of Peer Interaction in Technology-Supported Personalized Learning'.
- 46. Pitchford, N. J. and Lurvink, A. Personal communication to the author by email 16 October 2023.
- 47. Pitchford, N. J. (2023). Research on solar-power projector DPL implementation in Malawi Personal communication to the author by email on 16 October 2023.
- 48. Tailor, Kavita. 'Evaluating'.
- 49. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 50. D'Angelo et al. 'Lessons'.
- 51. Major et al. 'A dialogic'.
- 52. See <a href="https://www.imagineworldwide.org/updates/building-educational-foundations-through-in-novation-technology-befit-malawi-scale-up-program-overview/">https://www.imagineworldwide.org/updates/building-educational-foundations-through-in-novation-technology-befit-malawi-scale-up-program-overview/</a>. Retrieved 15 February 2024.
- 53. See <a href="https://www.vsointernational.org/our-work/inclusive-education/system-strengthening/unlocking-talent-through-technology">https://www.vsointernational.org/our-work/inclusive-education/system-strengthening/unlocking-talent-through-technology</a>. Retrieved 15 February 2024.
- 54. Pitchford et al. 'Interactive Apps'.
- 55. Levesque, Karen, Bardack, Sarah, and Chigeda, Antonie. 2020. 'Tablet-Based Learning for Foundational Literacy and Math: An 8-Month RCT in Malawi'.

  <a href="https://www.imagineworldwide.org/resource/tablet-based-learning-for-foundational-literacy-and-math-an-8-month-rct-in-malawi/">https://www.imagineworldwide.org/resource/tablet-based-learning-for-foundational-literacy-and-math-an-8-month-rct-in-malawi/</a>.
- 56. Levesque, Karen, Sarah Bardack, Antonie Chigeda, Abraham Bahlibi, and Symon Winiko. 2022. 'Two-Year RCT of EdTech in Malawi'. <a href="https://imagine-worldwide.flywheelstaging.com/wp-content/uploads/2-Year-Malawi-RCT-F">https://imagine-worldwide.flywheelstaging.com/wp-content/uploads/2-Year-Malawi-RCT-F</a> <a href="https://ormatted-Research-Brief Updated 10 6 22.pdf">ormatted-Research-Brief Updated 10 6 22.pdf</a>.
- 57. Schmitt, Laurel. 'Scaling'.
- 58. Malawi MoE. 2023. 'Building Education Foundations through Innovation & Technology: Malawi Scale-up Program Overview'.

  <a href="https://www.imagineworldwide.org/wp-content/uploads/Malawi-Project-Overview-General-2-27-23.pdf">https://www.imagineworldwide.org/wp-content/uploads/Malawi-Project-Overview-General-2-27-23.pdf</a>.
- 59. UNICEF. 'Trends'.

- 60. Muralidharan, Karthik, Abhijeet Singh, and Alejandro J. Ganimian. 2019. 'Disrupting Education? Experimental Evidence on Technology-Aided Instruction in India'. *American Economic Review 109* (4): 1426–60. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20171112.
- 61. Handa, Rhea. 2022. 'How Chimple Encouraged Increase in Adoption and Engagement'. 27 June 2022. <a href="https://www.centralsquarefoundation.org/articles/how-chimple-encouraged-increased-adoption-and-engagement">https://www.centralsquarefoundation.org/articles/how-chimple-encouraged-increased-adoption-and-engagement</a>.
- 62. Daltry et al. 'Integrating'.
- 63. Major and Francis. 'Technology-supported'.
- 64. Lurvink, Anne-Fleur, and Nicola J. Pitchford. 2023. 'Introduction of an EdTech Intervention to Support Learning of Foundational Skills in Sierra Leone: Policy, Teacher, and Community Perspectives'. *Frontiers in Education* 8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2023.1069857">https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2023.1069857</a>.
- 65. Major and Francis. 'Technology-supported'.
- 66. See <a href="https://www.oppia.org/about">https://www.oppia.org/about</a>. Retrieved 19 February 2024.
- 67. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 68. Banerjee et al. 'Cost-effective'.
- 69. Selwyn, Neil. 2023. 'Digital Degrowth: Toward Radically Sustainable Education Technology'. *Learning, Media and Technology*, no. 0: 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2022.2159978.
- 70. UNICEF. 'Trends'.
- 71. Malawi MoE. 'Building'.
- 72. See <a href="https://globalgoals.withgoogle.com/globalgoals/supported-organizations">https://globalgoals.withgoogle.com/globalgoals/supported-organizations</a>. Retrieved on 16 February 2024.









